A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1.  The trial court erred by failing to consider whether Cornwell’s 

payment of legal financial obligations (LFOs) would impose manifest 

hardship on him or on his immediate family, as RCW 10.01.160 (4) 

requires. 

2.  The trial court erred in finding that “requiring the payment of the 

legal financial obligations by the defendant will not impose a manifest 

hardship on the defendant or the defendant's immediate family.”  CP 95. 

3.  The trial court erred in finding “none of the grounds for granting 

relief in RCW 9.94A.7605 or otherwise apply in this case.“  CP 95. 

4.  The trial court erred in finding “the defendant has failed to meet 

his burden of proof in this matter.”  CP 95. 

B ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1.  RCW 10.01.160(4) explicitly permits Cornwell to move for 

remission of LFOs at any time for manifest hardship.  Does the failure to 

hold a fact hearing on whether there is manifest hardship render RCW 

10.01.160(4)’s remissions process a nullity and violate due process? 

2.  Is Cornwell aggrieved under RAP 3.1 by the complete denial of 

consideration of his LFO remission motion on its merits?   
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3.  What superior court procedures or standards should be 

established to ensure LFOs are remitted when they impose manifest 

hardship?  

4.  Because there is no standard or procedure to assess manifest 

hardship under the remission statute, should counsel be appointed to assist 

in the remissions process? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In June 2013, Mr. Cornwell was sentenced to numerous offenses 

involving drugs and stolen property.  CP 6-7.  At sentencing the Court 

imposed discretionary costs of $5346.22 and mandatory costs of $600
1
, for 

a total Legal Financial Obligation (LFO) of $5946.22.  CP 11-12.   

The Judgment and Sentence contained the following language: 

¶ 2.5 ABILITY TO PAY LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS. 

(RCW 9.94A.760)  The court has considered the defendant's past, 

present and future ability to pay legal financial obligations, including 

the defendant's financial resources and the likelihood that the 

defendant's status will change.  The court specifically finds that the 

defendant has the ability or likely future ability to pay the legal 

financial obligations ordered herein. 

 

CP 9.  

                                                 
1
 $500 Victim Assessment, $100 DNA fee. CP 11-12.  The $200 in court costs imposed 

herein was not labeled as the criminal filing fee by the trial court, and therefore, it cannot 

be considered as mandatory.  See State v. Kuster, 175 Wn. App. 420, 425, 306 P.3d 1022 

(2013). 
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The Court did not inquire into Mr. Cornwell’s financial resources 

or consider the burden payment of LFOs would impose on him.  6/24/13 

RP 35-36.  The Court ordered Mr. Cornwell to begin making payments of 

$100 per month 90 days after his release from custody.  CP 12.  

On April 1, 2015, Mr. Cornwell filed a motion to vacate his LFO’s.  

CP 82-84.  The superior court ruled on the merits and summarily denied 

the motion without a hearing and with only the prosecutor present in the 

courtroom.  4/20/15 RP 1-2; CP 95-96.  The Court found in its written 

order “that requiring the payment of the legal financial obligations by the 

defendant will not impose a manifest hardship on the defendant or the 

defendant's immediate family, that none of the grounds for granting relief 

in RCW 9.94A.7605 or otherwise apply in this case, and the defendant has 

failed to meet his burden of proof in this matter.”  CP 95.   

This appeal followed.  CP 101-03.  
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D. ARGUMENT 

1.  RCW 10.01.160(4) explicitly permits Cornwell to move for 

remission of LFOs at any time for manifest hardship.  The failure to hold a 

fact hearing on whether there is manifest hardship renders RCW 

10.01.160(4)’s remissions process a nullity and violates due process.   

RCW 10.01.160(4) provides the LFO remission procedure in 

Washington:  

A defendant who has been ordered to pay costs and who is 

not in contumacious default in the payment thereof may at 

any time petition the sentencing court for remission of the 

payment of costs or of any unpaid portion thereof.  If it 

appears to the satisfaction of the court that payment of the 

amount due will impose manifest hardship on the defendant 

or the defendant’s immediate family, the court may remit 

all or part of the amount due in costs, or modify the method 

of payment under RCW 10.01.170.
2
 

This statute’s meaning is clear: if LFOs are imposed on a defendant, that 

defendant “may at any time petition the sentencing court for remission.”  

RCW 10.01.160(4); State v. Bertand, 165 Wn. App. 393, 405, 267 P.3d 

511 (2011) (“The defendant may petition the court at any time for 

remission or modification of the payments on [the basis of manifest 

hardship].  Through this procedure the defendant is entitled to judicial 

                                                 
2
 RCW 10.01.170 allows the court to set a time period or specify installments for 

LFO payments. 
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scrutiny of his obligation and his present ability to pay at the relevant 

time.” (alteration in original) (quoting State v. Baldwin, 63 Wn. App. 303, 

310–11, 818 P.2d 1116, 837 P.2d 646 (1991)), review denied, 175 Wn.2d 

1014 (2012)). 

Because defendants may move for remission at any time, it follows 

that they must be given some process on the subject of remission when 

they so move.  The second sentence of RCW 10.01.160(4) reads, “If it 

appears to the satisfaction of the court that payment of the amount due will 

impose manifest hardship on the defendant or the defendant’s immediate 

family, the court may remit all or part of the amount due in costs . . . .”  

Without some fact finding process, no court could satisfy itself that 

payment will or will not impose a manifest hardship.  That is, no manifest 

hardship determination can be made unless and until the moving party is 

able to present evidence and arguments to the trial court demonstrating 

why the LFOs cause manifest hardship.  A commonsense reading of RCW 

10.01.160(4) requires a hearing on the issue of manifest hardship. 

Washington courts interpreting the remissions statute have 

recognized that the actual merits of a remission petition must be 

considered.  In State v. Smits, 152 Wn. App. 514, 524, 216 P.3d 1097 

(2009), as amended (Dec. 14, 2009), Division One rejected the 
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appealability of an order denying a RCW 10.01.160 (4) remission motion 

because, in its view, orders denying remission are neither final judgments 

nor amendments to judgments under RAP 2.2 (a)(1) or (9).  This was so, 

according to the court, because the plain language of the statute makes the 

“amount imposed [in LFOs] . . . always subject to modification.”  Smits, 

152 Wn. App. at 524.  The court explained,  

A decision to grant or deny a motion to remit LFOs is a 

determination of whether the defendant should be required 

to pay based on the conditions as they exist when the 

request is made.  It does not alter or amend the judgment 

but rather changes the requirement of payment based on a 

present showing that payment would impose manifest 

hardship. 

Id. (emphasis added) (footnote omitted).  Smits supports the conclusion 

that trial courts must actually consider the issue of manifest hardship based 

on the defendant’s present circumstances.  Indeed, that is precisely what 

the trial court did in Smits: “The court held a hearing and entered separate 

orders denying the ‘Defendant’s Motion to terminate Legal Financial 

Obligations.’”  Id. at 518.  Cornwell, like Smits, needs a factual hearing on 

his motions to remit LFOs based on the consideration of his current 

circumstances.   

The consideration of presently available facts is especially 

warranted in indigent cases.  Whether a motion to remit requires a hearing 
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was decided by this court in State v. Crook, 146 Wn. App. 24, 28, 189 

P.3d 811 (2008), which concluded that the defendant failed to show that 

the superior court “erred in denying his motion without a facts hearing.”  

Nevertheless, this issue warrants additional review at this time.  Prior to 

Crook, Division Two noted that “additional fact finding from the bench is 

probably warranted in low income cases.”  State v. Campbell, 84 Wn. 

App. 596, 600, 929 P.2d 1175 (1997).  The Campbell court, somewhat 

incredulous toward the trial court for determining Campbell could pay 

LFOs, stated, “Although it is difficult to comprehend how a person 

supporting himself and a child on $700 per month would have any 

disposable income, Campbell indicated that he did, so we uphold the trial 

court’s finding.”  Campbell, 84 Wn. App. at 600.  Therefore, “under these 

facts,” “the trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying” Campbell’s 

motion.  Id. at 600-01.  Campbell’s marked reservations in the context of 

low income cases, however, foreshadowed the need for enhanced judicial 

scrutiny of an indigent person’s actual, present ability to pay LFOs when 

the indigent person moves for remission based on manifest hardship.   

Furthermore, although State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 344 P.3d 

680 (2015), concerned former RCW 10.01.160(3),
3
 the Court emphasized 

                                                 
3
 Subsection 3 states: 
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that a superior court, in assessing a defendant’s ability to pay LFOs, must 

conduct an individualized inquiry and consider factors “such as 

incarceration and a defendant’s other debts, including restitution.”  182 

Wn.2d at 838.  In light of Blazina, this court should reconsider its decision 

in Crook and determine that a motion to remit requires a factual hearing.    

Moreover, an adequate remissions process—one where a 

defendant’s financial circumstances are actually considered—is necessary 

to the constitutionality of the LFO system as a whole.  In Fuller v. Oregon, 

417 U.S. 40, 47–48, 94 S. Ct. 2116, 40 L. Ed. 2d 642 (1974), the United 

States Supreme Court rejected Fuller’s equal protection challenge because 

Oregon’s statute, like Washington’s, provided a remissions process.  “The 

convicted person from whom recoupment is sought thus retains all the 

exemptions accorded to other judgment debtors, in addition to the 

opportunity to show at any time that recovery of the costs of his legal 

defense will impose ‘manifest hardship[.]’”  Id. at 47.  The Court 

concluded “The legislation before us, therefore, is wholly free of the kind 

of discrimination that was held [previously] . . .to violate the Equal 

Protection Clause.”  Id. at 47-48.   

                                                                                                                         
The court shall not order a defendant to pay costs unless the defendant is or will 

be able to pay them.  In determining the amount and method of payments of 
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Other federal courts have interpreted Fuller as requiring 

examination of a defendant’s financial circumstances whenever the issue 

of hardship arises.  See Alexander v. Johnson, 742 F.2d 117, 124 (4th Cir. 

1984) (holding that, under Fuller, courts must give a defendant notice and 

opportunity to be heard on the issue of repayment of counsel fees and “the 

entity deciding whether to require repayment must take cognizance of the 

individual’s resources, the other demands on his own and family’s 

finances, and the hardships he or his family will endure if repayment is 

required”); Olson v. James, 603 F.2d 150, 155 (10th Cir. 1979) (construing 

Fuller’s constitutional requirements to mean that a person against whom 

LFOs were imposed “ought at any time to be able to petition the 

sentencing court for remission of the payment of costs or any unpaid 

portion thereof.  The court should have the power to issue remittitur if 

payment will impose manifest hardship on the defendant or his immediate 

family”). 

Washington courts have also recognized that a robust remissions 

process is constitutionally required.  This recognition began in State v. 

                                                                                                                         
costs, the court shall take into account the financial resources of the defendant 

and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will impose. 

Former RCW 10.01.160(3). 
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Barklind, 87 Wn.2d 814, 817, 577 P.2d 314 (1977), where the Washington 

Supreme Court recited what is constitutionally required under Fuller:  

[A] convicted person under obligation to repay may petition 

the court for remission of the payment of costs or of any 

unpaid portion thereof.  The trial court order specifically 

allows the defendant to petition the court to adjust the 

amount of any installment or the total amount due to fit his 

changing financial situation. 

Likewise, in State v. Curry, 118 Wn.2d 911, 915, 829 P.2d 166 (1992), the 

court listed one of the seven requirements that “must be met” for 

Washington’s LFO scheme to be constitutional: “The convicted person 

must be permitted to petition the court for remission of the payment of 

costs or any unpaid portion.”  RCW 10.01.160 was constitutional, in part, 

because the “court is directed to consider ability to pay, and a mechanism 

is provided for a defendant who is ultimately unable to pay to have his or 

her sentence modified.”  Curry, 118 Wn.2d at 916.   

In State v. Blank, 131 Wn.2d 230, 244, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997), the 

Washington Supreme Court upheld the constitutionality of the appellate 

cost scheme under RCW 10.73.160, because it “allows for a defendant to 

petition for remission at any time.”  The court noted that an obligation to 

pay “without opportunity for a hearing in which the defendant may dispute 

the amount assessed or the ability to repay, and which lacks any procedure 
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to request a court for remission of payment violates due process.”  Blank, 

131 Wn.2d at 244.  More recently, in Utter v. Dep’t of Soc. & Health 

Servs., 140 Wn. App. 293, 303–04, 165 P.3d 399 (2007), the court 

“delineated the salient features of a constitutionally permissible costs and 

fees structure” to include a requirement that the “convicted person must be 

permitted to petition the court for remission of the payment of costs or any 

unpaid portion . . . .”   

The constitutional lesson of all these cases and the plain language 

of RCW 10.01.160(4) is that defendants must be given a fair hearing of the 

subject of their LFO remission motions so that trial courts can make a 

manifest hardship determination based on the facts.  A statute allowing a 

party to move for a remission at any time based on manifest hardship 

while at the same time disallowing that party to present evidence and 

arguments germane to the manifest hardship determination makes no 

sense.  Indeed, such a restricted reading renders RCW 10.01.160(4) 

meaningless and thereby impermissibly undercuts the constitutionality of 

Washington’s overall LFO scheme. 

Here, when Mr. Cornwell was sentenced in June 2013, the court 

found, via the boilerplate language of paragraph 2.5 in the judgment and 

sentence, that Cornwell “has the ability or likely future ability to pay the 
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legal financial obligations ordered herein.”  CP 9.  However, the Court did 

not inquire into Mr. Cornwell’s financial resources or consider the burden 

payment of LFOs would impose on him.  6/24/13 RP 35-36. 

After Cornwell filed his motion to vacate his LFO’s, the trial court 

again made no inquiry and held no hearing.  Yet the court found “that 

requiring the payment of the legal financial obligations by the defendant 

will not impose a manifest hardship on the defendant or the defendant's 

immediate family
4
, that none of the grounds for granting relief in RCW 

9.94A.7605 or otherwise apply in this case
5
, and the defendant has failed 

to meet his burden of proof in this matter.”
6
  CP 95.  However, a finding 

must have support in the record.  A trial court's findings of fact must be 

supported by substantial evidence.  State v. Brockob, 159 Wn.2d 311, 343, 

150 P.3d 59 (2006) (citing Nordstrom Credit, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 120 

Wn.2d 935, 939, 845 P.2d 1331 (1993)).   

Here, there is no evidence to support the Court’s finding that 

requiring the payment of LFO’s will not impose a manifest hardship on 

Cornwell or his immediate family, since the Court has never inquired into 

Mr. Cornwell’s financial resources or consider the burden payment of 

                                                 
4
 Assignment of error 2. 

5
 Assignment of error 3. 

6
 Assignment of error 4. 
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LFOs would impose on him.  6/24/13 RP 35-36.  Second, the Court’s 

reliance on RCW 9.94A.7605 is incorrect.  That statute addresses payroll 

deductions
7
, which could not have occurred in this case, since Cornwell’s 

first payment was not due until 90 days after his release.  RCW 

10.01.160(4) is instead the applicable statute here.  Finally, the Court’s 

finding that Cornwell failed to meet his burden of proof is disingenuous at 

best, since he was not afforded the opportunity to do so at a hearing. 

As a matter of constitutional and statutory law, Cornwell was 

entitled to a hearing, at which the trial court actually considered whether 

the amount owed in LFOs caused a manifest hardship to Cornwell and to 

his family.  The Court’s findings are not based on substantial evidence.  

The Court afforded Cornwell no process whatsoever.  By refusing to 

meaningfully consider Cornwell’s motions for remission, the trial court 

failed to comply with the plain commands of RCW 10.01.160(4) and 

                                                 
7
 RCW 9.94A.7605 is titled “Motion to quash, modify, or terminate payroll deduction--

Grounds for relief” and provides in pertinent part: “(1) The offender subject to a payroll 

deduction under this chapter, may file a motion in superior court to quash, modify, or 

terminate the payroll deduction.  The court may grant relief if:  

(a) It is demonstrated that the payroll deduction causes extreme hardship or substantial 

injustice; or 

(b) In cases where the court did not immediately order the issuance of a notice of payroll 

deduction at sentencing, that a court-ordered legal financial obligation payment was not 

more than thirty days past due in an amount equal to or greater than the amount payable 

for one month . . .” 
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thereby failed to provide the minimum process due under the constitution.  

This court should therefore reverse and give Cornwell a fair hearing. 

2.  Cornwell is aggrieved under RAP 3.1 by the complete denial of 

consideration of his LFO remission motion on its merits. 

RAP 3.1 provides, “Only an aggrieved party may seek review by 

the appellate court.”  “An aggrieved party is one whose proprietary, 

pecuniary, or personal rights are substantially affected.”  In re 

Guardianship of Lasky, 54 Wn. App. 841, 848, 776 P.2d 695 (1989).  To 

be aggrieved, a party must have a present and substantial interest, rather 

than a mere expectancy or contingent interest in the subject matter.  State 

v. Mahone, 98 Wn. App. 342, 347, 989 P.2d 583 (1999).  For the purposes 

of determining whether a party has standing to appeal the superior court 

order as an aggrieved party, "aggrieved" has been defined to mean denial 

of some personal or proprietary right, legal or equitable, or the imposition 

upon a party of a burden or obligation.  Mestrovac v. Department of Labor 

& Indus., 142 Wn. App. 693, 704, 176 P. 3d 536 ( 2008), as amended on 

denial of reconsideration, (Feb 29, 2008), aff'd on other grounds sub nom. 

Kustura v. Dep' t of Labor& Indus., 169 Wn.2d 81, 233 P. 3d 853 (2010).  

The complete denial of any process to Cornwell regarding his remission 

motions qualifies him as an aggrieved party.  
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In Smits, the defendant was given the precise remedy Cornwell is 

asking for—a full evidentiary hearing on his remission motion.  Smits, 152 

Wn. App. at 518 (“The court held a hearing and entered separate orders 

denying” LFO termination motions).  Though the trial court ultimately 

disagreed with Smits that payment of the amount due for LFOs caused a 

manifest hardship, it made this determination by holding a hearing and 

assessing the actual evidence before it.  Smits supports Cornwell’s claim 

that he is aggrieved by the trial court’s failure to hold any semblance of a 

hearing on the issue of manifest hardship.  Similarly, in Mahone “the 

[trial] court determined that Mahone did not show how payment would 

constitute a manifest hardship.”  98 Wn. App. at 346.  This demonstrates 

that the trial court in Mahone actually considered whether the imposed 

LFOs would cause manifest hardship and determined they would not.  

Mahone therefore also supports Cornwell’s claim that the trial court must 

consider motions for remission on their merits.  Under both Mahone and 

Smits, Cornwell has a present interest in obtaining a manifest hardship 

determination and is therefore aggrieved. 

The time-of-enforcement rule, cited in Smits and Mahone, reasons 

that the courts need do nothing about the enormous sums imposed on 
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indigent defendants until the State actually seeks to collect.  The Mahone 

court, for instance, stated, 

Before Mahone is aggrieved . . . two things must happen.  It

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