FILED

**Apr 08, 2016**

Court of Appeals

Division III

State of Washington

33326-4-III

COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION III  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

RICHARD E. CORNWELL, JR.,

Appellant.

---

DIRECT APPEAL  
FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT  
OF WALLA WALLA COUNTY

---

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

---

Respectfully submitted:



by: Teresa Chen, WSBA 31762  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

P.O. Box 5889  
Pasco, Washington 99301  
(509) 545-3561

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

#### V. ARGUMENT

A. THE DEFENDANT'S CLAIM IS UNAPPEALABLE; AND THE DEFENDANT IS NOT AGGRIEVED.

The Defendant's arguments on appeal acknowledge that the Defendant's motion was made under RCW 10.01.160 only. Orders of such motions are not appealable and must be summarily denied. *State v. Smits*, 152 Wn. App. 514, 216 P.3d 1097 (2009).

In *State v. Smits*, the defendant appealed from superior court orders denying his motions to terminate LFO's. *State v. Smits*, 152 Wn. App. at 517. The commissioner of the court of appeals held that under RAP 2.2(a) the defendant had no right to appeal. *State v. Smits*, 152 Wn. App. at 518. And in the motion to modify, the court of appeals agreed with its

commissioner. *State v. Smits*, 152 Wn. App. at 523-24. An order to pay LFO's is not final under RAP 2.2(a)(1) but conditional, allowing a defendant to file a motion to modify or waive LFO's at any time. *State v. Smits*, 152 Wn. App. at 523. Nor is an order denying the motion to terminate LFO's equivalent to an order to amend the judgment under RAP 2.2(a)(9). Again, this is because the order is already conditional, such that when the time comes for collection, payment will not be required unless several conditions are met and because the amount is always subject to modification. *State v. Smits*, 152 Wn. App. at 524.

The Defendant repeatedly cites to this opinion. He does not dispute that the order is not an appealable decision under RAP 2.2(a). Therefore, the appeal must be summarily denied.

The Defendant claims that he is an aggrieved party under RAP 3.1. BOA at 14. Even if this were true, it does not make the order appealable.

As he acknowledges, to be aggrieved, a party must have a present interest, not merely an expectancy in the subject matter. BOA at 14, *citing State v. Mahone*, 98 Wn. App. 342, 347, 989 P.2d 583 (1999). The *Smits* court found the defendant was not aggrieved, because he was not currently being collected upon and any collections were only speculative. *State v. Smits*, 152 Wn. App. at 523-24, *citing State v. Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. 303,

310-11, 818 P.2d 1116 (1991). A defendant is not an aggrieved party on this issue “until the State seeks to enforce payment and contemporaneously determines the ability to pay.” *State v. Smits*, 152 Wn. App. at 582, (quoting *State v. Mahone*, 98 Wn. App. at 347-48).

The same is true for Defendant Cornwell. The judgment and sentence states that he shall not be required to pay until 90 days after his release. Collections on Cornwell’s LFO’s will not begin until March 2026 at the earliest, another ten years from now. The Defendant’s complaints about interest (BOA at 18) are likewise speculative. *State v. Smits* is good law. By law, the Defendant is not an aggrieved party.

The Defendant argues that *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d 827, 344 P.3d 680 (2015) overruled *Smits* and *Mahone* on this point, while at same time acknowledging that *Blazina* did not address in any way “appellate standing under RAP 3.1.” BOA at 16-17. *Blazina* plainly does not interpret either appealability under RAP 2.2(a) or standing under RAP 3.1.

As the Defendant acknowledges, he “is in a different procedural posture.” BOA at 17. The *Blazina* court was not concerned with RAP 3.1, because Blazina had a right of appeal. Blazina filed a direct appeal from his sentencing hearing claiming error at the imposition of sentencing condition. Blazina had a right to appeal from a judgment under RAP

2.2(a)(1). The Defendant Cornwell, on the other hand, filed a motion under RCW 10.01.160 to terminate LFO's which is not appealable under RAP 2.2(a)(1).

The *Blazina* court acknowledged that a court of appeals had the discretion to deny review of an unpreserved error under RAP 2.5(a). *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d at 832-33. In *Smits* and *Mahone*, the question was not preservation of error in a direct appeal, but standing as an aggrieved party in a post-conviction motion. The cases are entirely distinct.

Under *State v. Smits*, the appeal must be dismissed.

**B. THE SUPERIOR COURT HELD A HEARING ON THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION.**

The Defendant argues that the failure to hold a RCW 10.01.160 hearing renders the decision "a nullity and violates due process." BOA at 4. The premise is flawed. There plainly was a hearing. The Defendant did not appear at the hearing. His presence was not required, nor does he argue that it was.

The Defendant argues that "without some fact finding process, no court could satisfy itself that payment will or will not impose a manifest hardship." BOA at 5. This argument fails. First, there was a fact finding process. The court reviewed the briefing from both sides. The court

scheduled a hearing. The Defendant failed to appear at his own motion, failed to request to be transported, and failed to request a continuance for his appearance. This hearing took place regardless of the Defendant's failures. And his presence was not required.

Second, there is nothing the Defendant *could* show to demonstrate that an obligation that was not being collected upon was causing him any hardship where his room, board, and medical are being provided to him. These are the conditions "as they exist when the request is made." *State v. Smits*, 152 Wn. App. at 524. And they will continue to be the conditions for approximately ten years.

Regardless of the outcome of the April 20, 2015 hearing, the Defendant may renew his motion under RCW 10.01.160(4) "at any time" and repeatedly. This is the conclusion in *Smits*. However, his motion will continue to be denied while collections have not yet begun. While he is incarcerated and being cared for by the State, he will never be able to demonstrate that non-existent collections impose a manifest hardship on him.

C. THE TERM "MANIFEST HARDSHIP" DOES NOT REQUIRE CLARIFICATION.

It is apparent that the legislature intended that the superior courts

have discretion in deciding motions under RCW 10.01.160.

... If it appears *to the satisfaction of the court* that payment of the amount due will impose *manifest hardship* on the defendant or the defendant's immediate family, the court *may* remit *all or part* of the amount due in costs, *or modify the method of payment* under RCW 10.01.170.

RCW 10.01.160(4) (emphasis added).

However, the Defendant faults the legislature and urges this Court to remove this discretion by re-defining “manifest hardship” so as to be linked to the existence of an order of indigency. BOA at 19.

The *Blazina* court wrote “if someone does not meet the GR 34 standard for indigency, courts should seriously question that person’s ability to pay LFO’s.” *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d 827, 838, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). In other words, indigency standards can inform the court in its inquiry. However, the Defendant urges this Court to go further and to legislate that if there had been an order of indigency or if any of the GR 34 standards are present, then manifest hardship is necessarily met.

Because the Defendant has not demonstrated that he meets any of the GR 34 standards or that his order of indigency is based upon the GR 34 standard, he has no standing to make this argument. The argument is irrelevant to his case.

And his case is typical of criminal orders of indigency. The orders

in a particular case do not indicate the particular defendant meets any of the factors listed in GR 34. Nor does an order indicate that the court engaged in any analysis under this civil rule. Courts routinely enter orders of indigency in criminal cases without any analysis of the civil standard under GR 34.<sup>1</sup>

After appointment of counsel, much more information about the defendant's financial circumstances will come to light in the development of the case and record. There is no reason the court should be prevented from considering any relevant information in imposing a criminal sentence.

In this particular case, it is apparent that the superior court did not engage in any GR 34 analysis. The court entered an order of indigency in Mr. Cornwell's case based only on his statement that he was not currently working and did not have the funds to pay for an attorney. These turned out to be false statements. Very soon thereafter the Defendant came up with the premium on a bond of \$100,000 which is usually a non-refundable 10% of the bond. This premium could have paid for a retainer on a private attorney. And, as it turned out, he was making \$1800/mo and

---

<sup>1</sup> Criminal courts are justified in asking fewer questions before entering orders of indigency. A civil filing fee is only \$200. RCW 36.18.020(2)(a). The retainer for a criminal attorney is significantly more. And the right to counsel is constitutional.



had been employed as a dry cleaner for 16 years.

A GR 34 analysis of what someone can pay in a lump sum at the time of a civil filing is not necessarily relevant to what someone can pay after serving a sentence and in reasonable increments. While a criminal court can defer payment and modify the payment schedule to only a few dollars a month for LFO's, a civil filing fee is \$200 up front and a criminal retainer is significantly more up front. A criminal defendant who cannot come up with a retainer for an attorney right away may still be capable of paying significantly smaller LFO's at a very affordable payment schedule.

In waiving civil filing fees, GR 34 directs the court to look at whether a person is on TANF (temporary assistance for needy families), GAU (general assistance for unemployable people), SSI (supplemental security income), poverty-related veteran's benefits, or food stamps. GR 34(a)(3)(A). This is appropriate when the question is whether a person can come up with a \$200 filing fee today ... or a \$5,000 retainer in a criminal matter. However, one's TANF status at the time of filing is not determinative of one's future ability to pay at the time of collection. TANF is by definition temporary. It is a program intended to get families back on their feet. The same is true for food stamps. Some assistance programs are available to people as they are transitioning into other

employment, picking up new skills. These programs indicate a snap shot in time of one's earning ability. They do not speak to one's future ability to pay in reasonable increments.

In this particular case, there is no information to suggest that the Defendant, who was making \$1800/mo<sup>2</sup> and had a long history of steady employment, was on any of these programs. Therefore, he lacks standing to make this argument.

A court's discretion in remitting LFO's (and a court's discretion in imposing LFO's) should not be tied to an order of indigency entered upon little information and to safeguard the constitutional right to counsel. There is a significant difference between having the funds to pay a large lump sum retainer and having the funds to meet a reasonable and alterable LFO payment plan. This Court should not alter the clear legislative directive permitting superior courts to assess each motion on a case by case basis considering all relevant factors.

The legislative process requires public input and the lengthy consideration of all possible consequences and ripple effects. The Appellant's Brief does not offer the Court the information necessary to

---

<sup>2</sup> This is well above the \$1238/mo (i.e. 125% of the federal poverty guidelines) that Washington State Courts find is sufficient to support oneself.  
<https://www.courts.wa.gov/forms/?fa=forms.contribute&formID=82>

change the law. Tying punishment (LFO's) to attorney appointment could result in superior courts entering fewer orders of indigency. It could also encourage courts to make more thorough on-the-record inquiries of a defendant's circumstances at the time of attorney appointment, which in turn could result in statements that could be used by the prosecutor against the defendant at trial.

The Defendant proposes switching the burden of proving manifest hardship to the state. BOA at 22. A criminal prosecutor does not (and should not) have access to the confidential employment information that a child support prosecutor does through the Employment Security Division. And even if she did, this information will not reflect recent changes in employment, such as loss of employment or injury. A criminal prosecutor does not have information on a person's child support obligations or health situation. The best source for the most up-to-date information about an individual's income and expenses is the individual.

Because the state met the burden of proving ability to pay at sentencing, and because a defendant may renew a motion interminably, it is improper to make the State bear the burden every time the defendant files a new motion. (In Cornwell's case, however, the State amply demonstrated there was no hardship on the Defendant because there is no

ongoing collection and the Defendant will have the ability to pay upon release.)

The Court should be aware that prosecutors are frequently absent on the LFO docket. This benefits defendants. But if the burden of proof were placed on the state as the Defendant urges, to avoid automatic dismissal of all LFO collections, prosecutors would begin attending these hearings and the bar to remission would be raised on defendants.

The Defendant's proposals to this Court are poorly thought through. The Court should not exceed its authority on this invitation.

D. THIS NON-COLLECTION CASE IS NOT THE VEHICLE FOR DECIDING RIGHT TO COUNSEL IN ALL COLLECTION MATTERS.

The Defendant invites this Court to engage in constitutional reform and determine that the State should appoint counsel every time a person wants to make a motion to remit LFO's, no matter how facially frivolous. He admits that his request is contrary to the legislative directive in RCW 10.73.150 and the Washington Supreme Court in *State v. Mahone*, 98 Wn. App. 342, 346-47, 989 P.2d 583 (1999).

This case of all cases is a poor test case. The Defendant has admitted the ability to pay. And the Defendant is not subject to collections. He will not be subject to collections for another ten years.

He argues that “many” public defenders do not object to the imposition of “considerable” LFO’s. BOA at 23. He offers no proof for this generalization. Here the defense and Defendant tactically used his employment history and employability in order to support their request for a reduced sentence. RP (6/24/2013) 25-28 (arguing that, given his history of long term consecutive employment, Defendant’s crimes were an anomaly and that he was deserving of a minimal term of incarceration). *See also State v. Duncan*, 180 Wn. App. 245, 247, 251, 327 P.3d 699 (2014) (a sentencing court will seldom find that there is no likelihood that an offender will ever be able to pay, therefore, “given the more important issues at stake in a sentencing hearing,” it makes good strategic sense not to present oneself as “perpetually unemployed and indigent”). The sentencing court did not impose “considerable” LFO’s. The LFO’s are appropriate to the facts of this particular case which caused enormous harm and made the Defendant significant profit.

He argues that “most” courts enter “boilerplate findings” without consideration of the ability to pay. BOA at 23. Again there is no offer of proof for the generalization. It is certainly not true here. The sentencing court in this case had more than enough information, even before making additional inquiries, with which to support its specific finding.

He argues that it is unclear what standard he must meet. BOA at 24. The standard is manifest hardship, i.e. a hardship that is readily apparent or easily recognized. *State v. McNearney*, 32667-5-III, 2016 WL 1273028, at \*8 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 31, 2016) (Fearing, J., concurring).

In his case, he has not begun to meet any standard because there is no collection and because he is incarcerated with all his needs cared for, so as to be at no risk of hardship.

He argues that appointed counsel is necessary, because the law is unclear. But the standard (show a hardship on you or your family) is not unclear. It is broad. Broad is good. It gives courts discretion and flexibility to fashion the proper remedy on a case by case basis.

Pro se litigants access the courts on a daily basis in civil matters. They get protection orders, child support orders, property division orders, and deeds of trust. People change their names, they petition to regain their gun rights, and they respond to others' legal process – all without appointed counsel.

Criminal defendants have significant advantages over these pro se litigants. They had counsel at trial and on appeal. Surely trial and appellate counsel advise their clients that the remission procedure exists. Later on, they have appointed counsel when courts are considering

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